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STATEMENT OF SUBJECT MATTER AND APPELLATE JURISDICTION TC "STATEMENT OF SUBJECT MATTERAND APPELLATE JURISDICTION" \f C \l "1" 
The district court had subject matter jurisdiction under 18 U.S.C. § 3231 TA \l "18 U.S.C. § 3231" \s "18 U.S.C. § 3231" \c 2 .  The appeal is from a judgment of conviction and sentence that disposed of all claims with respect to all parties.  The district court entered the judgment of conviction as to Schiff on February 24, 2006.  Appellant Schiff filed his notice of appeal on March 1, 2006.  This Court has appellate jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1291 TA \l "28 U.S.C. § 1291" \s "28 U.S.C. § 1291" \c 2  and 18 U.S.C. § 3742 TA \l "18 U.S.C. § 3742" \s "18 U.S.C. § 3742" \c 2 (a).  

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES TC "STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES" \f C \l "1" 
1.
Did the court err in failing to hold a competency hearing pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 4241 TA \l "18 U.S.C. § 4241" \s "18 U.S.C. § 4241" \c 2  and 18 U.S.C. § 4247 TA \l "18 U.S.C. § 4247" \s "18 U.S.C. § 4247" \c 2  and was Schiff’s waiver of his Sixth Amendment right to counsel knowingly and intelligently made?
2.
Did the court’s post-trial finding of Schiff in contempt without notice, an opportunity to be heard, or even the right of elocution and then sentencing him to a prison term of twelve months in prison, violate his Fifth Amendment right to due process and Rule 42 of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure TA \l "Rule 42 of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure" \s "Rule 42 of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure" \c 4 ?

3.
Was the court’s sentence of a seventy-eight year old man to 163 months in prison “reasonable” given 18 U.S.C. § 3553 TA \l "18 U.S.C. § 3553" \s "18 U.S.C. § 3553" \c 2  and U.S.  v. Booker, 543 U.S. 220 TA \l "U.S. v. Booker, 543 U.S. 220" \s "U.S. v. Booker, 543 U.S. 220" \c 1 ?  
4.
Did the court wrongly continue to preside over the trial after it had determined that Schiff had “fomented threats to the safety of the Court and its personnel”?  

5.
Were the so-called “0” tax returns which are the subject of Counts 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6 and 18-23 false or frivolous?
6.
The cumulative effect of the trial court’s errors require reversal of Schiff’s conviction?  
STATEMENT OF THE CASE TC "STATEMENT OF THE CASE" \f C \l "1" 
A grand jury in the District of Nevada indicted Irwin Schiff, Cynthia Neun and Lawrence Cohen on March 23, 2004 for various tax offenses.  All three were charged in Count 1 with conspiracy to defraud the United States “for the purpose of impeding, impairing, obstructing and defeating, through deceitful and dishonest means, the lawful government functions of the Internal Revenue Service” in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 0371 TA \l "18 U.S.C. § 371" \s "18 U.S.C. § 371" \c 2 .  

Schiff was charged individually with having “willfully aided and assisted in the preparation and presentation of 1040 tax returns “which were false and fraudulent as to material matters” for several taxpayers, i.e., James and Angela Dentice (Counts 2, 3 and 4), Charles V. Earnest (Count 5) and Zaroof and Nighat Abdulla (Count 6).  Count 17 charged that Schiff did “willfully attempt to evade and defeat the payment . . . of his income taxes, penalties and interest . . . for 1979 through 1985 “by hiding his income and assets in violation of 26 U.S.C. 7201 TA \l "26 U.S.C. 7201" \s "26 U.S.C. 7201" \c 2 .”  Counts 18 through 23 charged that Schiff filed “0” 1040 tax returns for the years 1997 through 2003 which he “did not believe to be true” in violation of 26 U.S.C. 7206 TA \l "26 U.S.C. 7206" \s "26 U.S.C. 7206" \c 2 (1).  

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS TC "STATEMENT OF THE FACTS" \f C \l "1" 
Schiff founded Freedom Books.  Neun met Schiff in 1998 and began working at Freedom Books in 2000.  Cohen met Schiff and also worked at Freedom Books.  According to various witnesses, Freedom Books sold books, tapes and various other publications dealing with federal income taxes.  The core principle of these publications was that income taxes were “voluntary” and that “income” meant income from corporate profits.  Tr. 2283 and 2322.  The basic facts established by the government was that pursuant to this belief, Schiff and others were justified in putting a “0” on line 7 of their tax returns.  Line 7 is entitled “wages, salaries, tips, etc.  Attach Form(s) W-2.”.  There was a great deal of evidence that the defendants proleytized their income tax beliefs in various publications, seminars, radio shows and personal appearance individually and through Freedom Books.  

The government called as witnesses a number of taxpayers who filed so-called “0” returns after consulting with one or more of the defendants.  Each of these witnesses, without exception, testified that they believed the returns were truthful.  Most also admitted conducting their own research using the IRS code and other materials including books, pamphlets, so-called Schiff reports and tapes sold to them by the defendants and Freedom Books.  

Taxpayer Melvin Lewis testified that he bought and studied an “annotated” version of the United States tax code and did legal research at the University of Nevada at Las Vegas.  Relying on Freedom Books materials for “verbiage,” he filed “0” tax returns.  1137-1142.  Attached to the return was his W-2 and the two-page letter setting forth Schiff’s legal analysis of income tax law, that wages, tips, etc. were not corporate profit and therefore not income.  Tr. 2283 and 2322.  This letter was attached to each of “0” tax returns.  According to Kristy Morgan, a Special Agent with the Criminal Investigation Division of the IRS, this letter was “attached to all as what we have identified as the U.S. v. Long returns.”  Tr. 1585.  Lewis also obtained an opinion letter from a lawyer regarding the filing of his “0” returns.  1181-1185.
  He testified that his belief was that “I was not liable for the income taxes.”  1218.  
Taxpayer, James Dentice, after reading Schiff’s books and various court decisions “came to the conclusion that income meant a corporate profit.”  Tr. 2234.  He therefore filed “0” tax returns attaching to his return his W-2s and the two-page letter setting forth Schiff’s legal analysis referenced above.  He believed the “0” return he filed to be truthful.  Tr. 2235.  He also discussed it with an attorney Barbara Beard.  Tr. 2239.  

Taxpayer Charles Earnest’s testimony was similar.  He heard Schiff speak at a seminar and on the radio.  Tr. 2347.  He bought the tax code and read additional materials, ultimately filing a “0” return, attaching his W-2 and the legal analysis letter.  Tr. 2354-2356, 2368.  According to Earnest, he was persuaded by “the statutes and the court decisions.”  Tr. 2367.  “According to what I’ve read in the IRS, I believe that what I put on the zero return is true.”  Tr. 2394.  

Taxpayer Farooq Abdulla said Schiff signed his return as tax preparer at his, Abdulla’s request.  Tr. 2284.  Attached to the return was Abdulla’s W-2 which showed $183,320.00 as “wages, tips [&] other compensation” and the two-page letter explaining that such monies were not corporate profits and therefore not income.  Tr. 2283, 2322.  Abdulla had attended a Schiff seminar and then educated himself regarding his tax obligations.  As a result, he believed that he was acting legally.  Tr. 2310.  The decision to file the “0” return was his.  Tr. 2323.  

Taxpayer Allin had income of $600,000.00 and filed a “0” return attaching the two-page letter disclaiming the necessity of filing.  Like the others, he received a “frivolous letter.”  Tr. 2666.  According to the court, Allin, like the other taxpayer witnesses and Schiff’s co-defendants, relied on what the court called Schiff’s “faulty analysis of the law.”  Tr. 2727-2728.  

Taxpayer Driscoll heard Schiff on the radio and then attended a seminar.  Tr. 2780.  She bought and read Schiff’s book, The Federal Mafia.  Tr. 2781.  A woman at Freedom Books, Carol, told her if she filed a “0” return she would get a tax refund.  Carol later prepared her 1040 Xs, showing “0” income which she filed.  GX 163-175 and Tr. 2783-2792.  Driscoll, like the others, attached the same two page letter setting forth Schiff’s legal analysis.  Tr. 2795.  She was following the advice of “Irwin and The Federal Mafia.”  Tr. 2793.  

Antionette Mitchell testified that her husband heard Schiff on the radio.  She later worked at Freedom Books.  She bought The Federal Mafia and “read the entire book.”  340, 370.  Using the Federal Mafia she then prepared and filed a “0” return, “seeking a refund for her withholding.”  Tr. 342.  She also attached the same two-page letter copied from The Federal Mafia which incorporated Schiff “analysis of the law.”  Tr. 371.  

Taxpayer Kennedy heard Schiff speak at a seminar and later met him.  She prepared and signed her “0” returns based on the instructions from Freedom Books.  666-672.  When the IRS challenged her returns, she bought various materials from Freedom Books and followed Schiff’s advice.  Tr. 376-390.  
Following the receipt of the frivolous letter there followed correspondence, hearings, the assessment of penalties and interest and, in some cases, liens on property and bank accounts and tax court litigation.  None of the defendants or taxpayers witnesses called by the government was successful in persuading the IRS that the tax theory advocated by Schiff and his cohorts was valid.  

The evidence showed that Schiff relied upon various portions of the IRS code and particular tax cases in support of his reasoning.  According to the government and the court these portions of the code and case law were taken out of context.  Unfortunately, almost without fail, every time Schiff or his codefendants attempted to have a witness explain the basis of his/her belief he was stopped.  The rationale of the government’s objection and the court’s ruling was that the defendants were attempting to confuse the jury regarding the law, since Schiff’s tax theories were frivolous.  As explained to the trial court on more than one occasion, the “facts” forming the basis of the witness’ belief was being offered not as proof of what the law was or is, but rather to support the notion that his/her beliefs were held in good faith.  

Schiff testified on his own behalf.  The crux of his testimony was that “income” does not include wages.  Tr. 4509-4565 and Tr. 4635-4979.  
Count 17 charged that Schiff attempted to evade paying income taxes, penalties and interest due for the years 1979 through 1985.  Various witnesses testified that Schiff opened a bank account under a different taxpayer identification number after the IRS levied his personal account; that Schiff used an offshore trust account to shield assets from the IRS; that Schiff titled his car in a nominee name after the IRS seized a previous car; and that Schiff used the warehouse banking services of Christian Patriot Association (CPA).  According to the evidence, warehouse bank accounts were identified by a number rather than by name, and the deposits of hundreds of individuals were commingled into a single bank account not associated with the name or social security number of any individual.  Schiff’s CPA account number was uncovered during a search of Freedom Books. 
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT TC "SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT" \f C \l "1" 
1.
There was substantial evidence that Schiff was not competent.  Despite the mandate of 4241 TA \s "18 U.S.C. § 4241" (a) and 4247 TA \s "18 U.S.C. § 4247" (d), the court never held a competency hearing. 18 U.S.C. § 4241 TA \s "18 U.S.C. § 4241" (a) states unequivocally that the court must hold a competency hearing “if there is reasonable cause to believe that the defendant may presently be suffering from a mental disease.”  The failure of the court to determine whether Schiff was competent impacted Schiff’s initial decision to waive counsel and appear pro se since the court at the time was completely unaware of his mental illness.  Schiff’s mental illness finally was addressed six days before trial by a different magistrate judge.  The second magistrate judge relied on the earlier waiver and wrongly accepted the government’s expert’s hedged opinion that Schiff was competent to stand trial.  Several cases of this court hold that regardless of the expert’s report, there must be a “judicial determination of competence.”  U.S. v. Bradshaw, 690 F.2d 704 TA \l "U.S. v. Bradshaw, 690 F.2d 704" \s "U.S. v. Bradshaw, 690 F.2d 704" \c 1 , 712 (9th Cir. 1982); U.S. v. Chavez, 656 F.2d 512 TA \l "U.S. v. Chavez, 656 F.2d 512" \s "U.S. v. Chavez, 656 F.2d 512" \c 1 , 517 (9th Cir. 1981).  18 U.S.C. § 4247 TA \s "18 U.S.C. § 4247" (d) requires that a defendant be provided certain due process rights at such a hearing including  notice, counsel, subpoena power and cross-examination.  What occurred in this case regarding competency and waiver of counsel is at odds with the statutes and case law.  

2.
Summary disposition of criminal contempt is limited to instances “when immediate action is needed . . . to restore the court’s authority.”  Taylor v. Hayes, 418 U.S. 488 TA \l "Taylor v. Hayes, 418 U.S. 488" \s "Taylor v. Hayes, 418 U.S. 488" \c 1 , 94 S.Ct. 2697, 41 L.Ed. 2d 897 (1974).  U.S. District Court Judge’s Benchbook TA \l "U.S. District Court Judge’s Benchbook" \s "U.S. District Court Judge’s Benchbook" \c 3 , 4th Ed.,  § 2.01, p. 186.  The Constitution limits the punishment for contempt to six months “without a jury trial.”  Muniz v. Hoffman, 422 U.S. 454 TA \l "Muniz v. Hoffman, 422 U.S. 454" \s "Muniz v. Hoffman, 422 U.S. 454" \c 1 , 476, 95 S.Ct. 2178 (1975).  Here the punishment was 12 months.  In summary contempt cases, the court is obligated to certify in writing the specific conduct which was contemptuous.  The certificate is necessary and transcript references are insufficient.  In Re Gustafason, 619 F.2d 1314 TA \l "In Re Gustafason, 619 F.2d 1314" \s "In Re Gustafason, 619 F.2d 1314" \c 1 , 1356 (9th Cir. 1980) and U.S. v. Matthews, 49 F.2d 676 TA \l "U.S. v. Matthews, 49 F.2d 676" \s "U.S. v. Matthews, 49 F.2d 676" \c 1 , 678 (11th Cir. 1995).  Notice and an opportunity to be heard are constitutional basics.  Groppi v. Leslie, 404 U.S. 496 TA \l "Groppi v. Leslie, 404 U.S. 496" \s "Groppi v. Leslie, 404 U.S. 496" \c 1 , 502, 92 S.Ct. 582, 586, 30 L.Ed. 632 (1972).  None of these rights were afforded Schiff.  Schiff was not even given the right of elocution.  

3.
The court wrongfully sentenced Schiff, a 78 year old man with severe mental health problems to a combined sentence of 163 months.  In effect, it is a life sentence.  The sentence is patently not reasonable under the Booker TA \s "U.S. v. Booker, 543 U.S. 220"  and its progeny.  

4.
After the verdict, at Schiff’s detention hearing, the court made a “finding” that Schiff had “fomented threats to the safety of the Court and its personnel.”  The defendant filed a motion asking the court to recuse itself.  The government suggested the court to put on the record those facts which were the basis of its ‘finding of fact.’  The court denied defendant’s motion and declined to put the facts on the record.  Rather it backtracked, seemingly absolving Schiff of responsibility and stating that the threats were not “credible.”  Yet earlier in the trial the court had stated unequivocally that Schiff had created “significant risks for the safety of this Court.”  This fact and others make clear that the court was biased against Schiff.  The Judge should have recused himself.  The fact that the court did not recuse itself and also did not disclose the facts underlying it’s finding requires that Schiff’s conviction be reversed.  

5.
The evidence was insufficient to prove Schiff willfully conspired to file, filed or assisted others in filing “false and fraudulent” income tax returns.  All the tax returns were so-called “zero returns” or, as the IRS called them “U.S. v. Long returns.”  There was no effort to deceive the IRS since the returns had W-2s attached and a letter detailing the legal argument on which the taxpayers were relying.  The returns were not filed with the intent to deceive the IRS.  
ARGUMENT TC “ARGUMENT” \f C \l “1” 
I.
THE COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO HOLD A COMPETENCY HEARING AND SCHIFF DID NOT KNOWINGLY AND INTELLIGENTLY WAIVE HIS SIXTH AMENDMENT RIGHT TO COUNSEL TC "I.
THE COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO HOLD A COMPETENCY HEARING AND SCHIFF DID NOT KNOWINGLY AND INTELLIGENTLY WAIVE HIS SIXTH AMENDMENT RIGHT TO COUNSEL" \f C \l "2" 
Courts are unanimous that due process requires a trial court to hold a hearing whenever there are “reasonable grounds” to question the defendant’s competency.  Drope v. Missouri, 420 U.S. 162 TA \l "Drope v. Missouri, 420 U.S. 162" \s "Drope v. Missouri, 420 U.S. 162" \c 1 , 95 S.Ct. 896 (1975); U.S. v. Chavez TA \s "U.S. v. Chavez, 656 F.2d 512" , 656 F.3d 512, 515-516 (9th Cir. 1981) and other cases cites therein.  
18 U.S.C. § 4241 TA \s "18 U.S.C. § 4241" (a) states in pertinent part:  

At any time after the commencement of a prosecution for an offense and prior to the sentencing of the defendant, the defendant or the attorney for the Government may file a motion for a hearing to determine the mental competency of the defendant.  The court . . . shall order such a hearing on its own motion, if there is reasonable cause to believe that the defendant may presently be suffering from a mental disease or defect rendering him mentally incompetent to the extent that he is unable to understand the nature and consequences of the proceedings against him or to assist properly in his defense.  

There were clearly “reasonable grounds” to question whether Defendant Schiff was competent.  The catch was that Schiff had no lawyer to push the issue.  On January 23, 2004, several months before defendant’s arraignment in this case, William A. Cohan, an attorney representing Schiff in a civil tax case then pending in the United States District Court for the District of Nevada, entitled United States v. Schiff, case number 01 CV 895, filed an affidavit detailing his belief that Schiff was “delusional.”  The affidavit set forth under oath a brief history of Schiff’s historical conflict  with the IRS and his delusional beliefs as to taxes, the IRS and the Justice Department. R. 56.  Cohan then noted in paragraph 24 of his affidavit the probability that Schiff did not appreciate the fact that he may suffer from a “delusional disorder.”  Cohan’s affidavit not only detailed his observations regarding Schiff’s obsession with his own views regarding the tax laws, but contained the reports of Dr. Louis Carlos Ortega, M.D., a Las Vegas, Nevada psychiatrist, ER 5, and Dr. Cynthia Barry, Ph.D., a San Jose, California psychologist.  ER 6.  Dr. Ortega had examined Schiff during his hospitalization for depression in October 2003 and concluded that Schiff suffered from “a delusional disorder.”  ER 7.  Dr. Barry
 examined Schiff in January 2004 and also concluded that he suffered from “Delusional Personality Disorder,” adding that “Mr. Schiff’s behavior is not rational.”  ER 6.  The Cohan affidavit with the two reports was served upon Department of Justice Tax attorneys on January 23, 2004, in the Schiff civil tax case then pending in the District Court, U.S. v. Irwin Schiff, CV-S-01-0895.  R. 144.
  

Schiff’s initial court appearance in this case was on April 14, 2004, his arraignment.  At that time Schiff told the Magistrate Judge Peggy A. Leen “I want to represent myself, but I would welcome the assistance of counsel.”  Tr. 4-14-04, p. 34.  This comment was in response to Magistrate Judge Leen’s question to Schiff “[w]ould you accept the appointment of standby counsel to assist you in the proceedings”?  Tr. 4-14-04, p. 33.  The appointment of “standby counsel” was not mentioned again.  The discussion became an “either/or” proposition, “you either appear here through counsel or you appear as counsel representing yourself, those are your two options.”  Tr. 4-14-04, p. 34.  Although McKackle v. Wiggins, 465 U.S. 168 TA \l "McKackle v. Wiggins, 465 U.S. 168" \s "McKackle v. Wiggins, 465 U.S. 168" \c 1 , 184, 104 S.Ct. 944 (1984) noted that Faretta does not require a trial judge to permit “hybrid representation,” such representation is not prohibited.  Justice Cardoza, in Snyder v. Massachusetts, 291 U.S. 97 TA \l "Snyder v. Massachusetts, 291 U.S. 97" \s "Snyder v. Massachusetts, 291 U.S. 97" \c 1 , 106, 54 S.Ct. 330, 332 (1934) noted that a defendant may “give advice or suggestion or even . . . supercede his lawyers altogether and conduct the trial himself.”  McKackle TA \s "McKackle v. Wiggins, 465 U.S. 168"  at 184.  In McKackle TA \s "McKackle v. Wiggins, 465 U.S. 168"  standby counsel played an active role in the trial along with the defendant, including questioning witnesses, making objections and even arguments.  

Given the choices offered, Schiff correctly pointed out that “[i]t’s a Catch-22.”  If that is the “only choice I have . . . I would rather represent myself.”  Tr. 4-16-06 p. 34.  The court then asked if Schiff was “suffering from any medical or physical impairment” to which Schiff answered “[n]o.”  Tr. 4-14-04, p. 35.  Before ruling the court asked the government whether “any further conversation with respect to Mr. Schiff’s . . . waiver” was appropriate.  Government counsel answered as follows:

MS. QUESNEL:  Your Honor, it appears to me that the Court has covered all of the items that are normally discussed in the cases dealing with this sort of issue, (emphasis added)
THE COURT:  So the answer is no?  

MS. QUESNEL:  Correct.  No.  

The Court then ruled.  

THE COURT:  Mr. Schiff, I find that you have knowingly and voluntarily waived your right to counsel and I will therefore permit you to represent yourself in these proceedings.  

Tr. 4-16-04, p. 36, ER 2.
Magistrate Judge Leen gave no explanation for why she did not appoint standby counsel.  The record is mute.  The Benchbook TA \s "U.S. District Court Judge’s Benchbook"  For United States District Court Judges suggests that standby counsel be appointed.   

It is probably advisable to appoint standby counsel who can assist defendant if the court determines during trial that defendant can no longer be permitted to proceed pro se.

Benchbook TA \s "U.S. District Court Judge’s Benchbook"  for U.S. District Court Judges, 4th Ed., § 1.02, p. 5.  

The failure to appoint standby counsel would have grave implications down the road when Magistrate Judge Leavitt considered the matter again on the eve of trial and during the trial when it became apparent to the trial court that Schiff could not effectively act on his own behalf.  

No one mentioned to Magistrate Judge Leen the Cohan affidavit or the reports from the two mental health experts stating that Schiff was suffering from a “delusional disorder.”  The Fifth Circuit has held that the government is “duty bound to report” such information to the court.  U.S. v. Vorner, 467 F.2d 659 TA \l "U.S. v. Vorner, 467 F.2d 659" \s "U.S. v. Vorner, 467 F.2d 659" \c 1 , 661 (5th Cir. 1972).  Magistrate Judge Leen’s inquiry therefore was “normal” at best since the decision was made without the benefit of the pertinent facts.  There can be little question that her inquiry would have been different had she been aware of the facts.  Since she was not, Schiff’s waiver on April 14, 2004 clearly does not pass constitutional muster.  

There followed several other opportunities for such a hearing.  However, since Schiff did not have counsel, there was no one to point the court or the Magistrate Judge in the right direction.  On September 7, 2004, a year before this case would go to trial, Schiff, acting pro-se, filed what he entitled a “Notice” indicating he may call as witnesses the psychiatrist, Ortega, and the psychologist, Barry, to testify that he was delusional.  Attached to this “Notice” was Cohan’s affidavit and the reports of Dr. Ortega and Dr. Barry.  R. 56.  Whatever the court did not know before, it now had before it a firm basis for questioning Schiff’s competency.  

No one took notice of this until on October 21, 2004, when the government filed a motion to have Schiff clarify his “Notice” and to compel him to submit to a psychiatric examination.  R. 61.  The motion asked that the Court order Schiff “to submit to a full psychiatric evaluation by a government expert,” and to clarify his trial intention. R. 61, p. 4. 

Another three and one-half months pass, and on February 3, 2005, at a “status conference” which Schiff attended by telephone, Magistrate Judge Leen granted the government’s motion and ordered Schiff to “submit to a mental examination.”  R. 124. Magistrate Judge Leen did not revisit the issue of Schiff’s competency to represent himself nor did she “sua sponte” order a competency hearing.  Pursuant to the Magistrate Judge Leen’s order, Schiff was examined by Dr. Daniel S. Hayes, a Coeur ď Alene Idaho, clinical psychologist.  Dr. Hayes completed his examination and filed his report although the date of filing cannot be discerned from the record.  ER 7.  

Dr. Hayes’ report found Schiff competent to stand trial.  However, Dr. Hayes also noted:

(Schiff’s) cognitive functioning appeared to be impacted by what appeared to be a mood disorder;
. . . .

He appears to have extremely rigid, fixed, inflexible, doggedly determined opinions and beliefs that cannot be changed by others’ reasoning.  And, in his case, even punishment has not had a corrective impact in his thinking or behaviors.  He appears impervious to any suggestions that he reconsider his conclusions or his actions,. . . .

It would be almost impossible at this point in his life to persuade him that he is wrong, . . . . 

To a certain degree Mr. Schiff’s focus on this topic [is] being driven by his mental illness, which I consider to be a Mood Disorder.  . . .  

Based on the information gathered thus far, Mr. Schiff appears to meet the diagnostic criteria for Bipolar II Disorder, with recurrent major depressive episodes and hypomanic episodes, without full inter-episode recovery.  . . .   

ER 7, p. B-6-7.  

Dr. Hayes’ report agreed “with the conclusions of both” Ortega’s and Barry’s “diagnosis of Mood Disorder.”  He also stated that his analysis of their conclusions was based on “the limited information available in the report.”  ER 7, p. B-5.  

Three months later, on May 23, 2005, the Government filed “Motion For Second Farretta Hearing.”  R. 144.  Rather than seeking a hearing on Schiff’s competency pursuant to 18 USC § 4241 TA \s "18 U.S.C. § 4241" , et seq., the motion sought only “a second Faretta inquiry.” R. 144.  On August 17, 2005, Magistrate Judge Lawrence R. Leavitt – not Magistrate Judge Leen – ordered that “a Faretta canvassing” be scheduled for Tuesday, September 6, 2005, six (6) days before trial.  R. 190.  
At the so-called “second Feratta hearing” on September 6, 2005, the government stated that the purpose of its motion was “because he has . . . filed a notice of an indication that he’s going to put on his expert witness who will testify that . . . he was suffering from some sort of delusional disorder.”  Tr. 9-6-05, p. 4.  The government told the court “we don’t think that this requires much inquiry,” asking the court to inform Schiff of the peril of offering such evidence while appearing pro se.  Tr. 9-6-05, p. 6.  The court obliged, making it eminently clear that there was no need to revisit Magistrate Judge Leen’s uninformed determination that Schiff was competent to represent himself.  


THE COURT:  Mr. Schiff, let me preface this by saying and this is clear in the record that Judge Leen found that you were competent to represent yourself, the doctor certainly believes you are, I believe you are.  That’s not an issue here.  The sole issue that the government is raising is whether or not by representing yourself you are going to run headlong into certain perils during the course of the trial that may cause the jury to take a different view of your case than you have.  

Tr. 9-6-05, p. 7.  

Schiff informed the Court about his concern that he was “delusional [and] doesn’t know he’s delusional.”  Tr. 9-6-05, p. 11.  There followed several statements by Schiff that he was “not competent enough to represent myself”; “[m]aybe I need a lawyer;  and “I don’t know enough about the procedure” and “I don’t have the research ability, the procedural ability to argue against these procedural issues that are coming up and didn’t anticipate.”  Tr. 9-6-05, pp. 9-13.  Despite all of this, the Magistrate Judge deflected the focus from whether Schiff was delusional, again saying that was not the issue.  “[T]he narrow subject that comes before the Court this morning,” was Schiff appearing pro se and offering testimony that he is delusional.  Tr. 9-6-05, p. 16.  

After some further colloquy, the court correctly noted that Schiff was having “second thoughts, you’re not sure that you can” represent yourself.  Tr. 9-6-05, p. 23.  The court asked the Government its thoughts as to whether “Mr. Schiff is competent to represent himself.”  Tr. 9-6-05, p. 32-33.  The first thing the prosecutor stated was “that we’re six days before trial and what options does that leave.”  Tr. 9-6-05, p. 33.  The government’s concern was the trial date.  Over nineteen (19) months had passed since the government had notice of Schiff’s mental illness (January 2004) and an entire year since Schiff brought the matter to the court’s attention (September 7, 2004).  Reading the transcript one senses that the onus was on Schiff for this problem being addressed on the eve of trial.  Schiff was the only one who did not share responsibility for the delay in bringing this to a head.  
Unashamed, the Government proposed “appointing standby counsel for Mr. Schiff,” who “wouldn’t necessarily need to have to be up to speed on all the evidence or all Mr. Schiff’s potential defenses.”  Tr. 9-6-05, p. 34.  Evidently having a lawyer who is not prepared is of no consequence, at least to the government.  Schiff reiterated:  “I probably should have a lawyer”; “I would prefer counsel, even standby counsel.”  Tr. 9-6-05, p. 36.  The court then adopted the Government’s opinion that a “standby attorney doesn’t need to take a lot of time to learn this case.”  Tr. 9-6-05, p. 38.  One can only imagine how Schiff would have been served by counsel who might have voiced objection to proceeding with a lawyer who had no opportunity “to learn the case.”  The court, having resolved the matter of counsel’s preparedness, asked if Schiff was asking him to appoint standby counsel.  Schiff responded, “yeah.”  Tr. 9-6-05, p. 41.  The court’s response was that “if Mr. Schiff were . . . allowed to withdraw his request to represent himself . . . that’s going to cause a very substantial delay in this trial.”  Tr. 9-6-05, p. 43.  A compentency hearing would have caused a substantial delay also since 18 U.S.C. § 4247 TA \s "18 U.S.C. § 4247" (d) gives a defendant the right to an evidentiary hearing including counsel, cross-examination and subpoena power.  At noon the court adjourned so that the government could look at the legal issues.  Tr. 9-6-05, p. 50.

At 3:25 pm the session resumed.  Tr. 9-6-05, p. 51.  Magistrate Judge Leavitt informed the parties that, given the possible delay appointing counsel would entail, he had discussed the matter with the trial court judge, District Court Judge Kent J. Dawson.  The solution was that he and Judge Dawson decided to contact attorney Todd Leventhal to act as standby counsel.  The court noted that “Ruth Ann” had contacted Leventhal and that he, Leventhal, had “indicated to her that you (Leventhal) were prepared to get involved” and put aside “all my other cases.”  Tr. 9-6-05. pp. 52-55.  Leventhal told the court “I know nothing” about this case and cannot possibly prepare as he normally would, even if only as standby counsel.  Tr. 9-6-05, p. 55-56.  Schiff told the court, “I need a full time counselor.”  Tr. 9-6-05, p. 60.  Although Schiff mentions his constitutional right to counsel, the court references the morning discussion and says “you have the right if the court sees fit to appoint what is called standby counsel.”  Tr. 9-6-05, p. 61.  With all due respect to Magistrate Judge Leavitt, this statement was flat out wrong.  Schiff had an absolute Sixth Amendment right to counsel. 

Notwithstanding, the court, taking a page from Kings 3:16-28, gave Schiff a less than constitutional choice, “you want this thing to drag on” or “do you want to go to trial and get it over with.”  Tr. 9-6-05, p. 66.  Schiff asked for time to speak to “the other attorneys.”  After eleven minutes he told the court, “I want a lawyer.”  Tr. 9-6-05, p. 67.  

THE COURT:  And you’re telling me you want a lawyer to represent you for all purposes?  

DEFENDANT SCHIFF:  Yes.  

Tr. 9-6-05, p. 67.  

When Schiff again expressed confusion at proceeding without a lawyer, the court told him “but we are a week away from trial.”  Tr.  9-6-05, p. 74.  The issue for Magistrate Judge Leavitt was not Schiff’s constitutional right to counsel or whether Schiff was competent, but simply was “we are a week away from trial.”  The impending trial is what had prompted he and/or Judge Dawson to contact Mr. Leventhal.  

After further colloquy, counsel for defendant Neun suggested that the matter be ‘tabled’ so Schiff can meet with a CJA Panel attorney.  Neun’s counsel very astutely noted that Schiff was clearly confused by the “different choices” being offered to him.  Tr. 9-6-05, p. 74.  The court indicated that to do so was outside of his authority and depended “on the Court’s
 willingness to delay this trial and appoint an attorney.”  Ironically, the court speculated that if it were to appoint a lawyer for “a case like this it would be a lawyer with some experience obviously.”  Tr. 9-6-05, p. 75.  Unsaid is the other obvious fact, i.e., an experienced lawyer would need time to prepare.  

Neither the government nor Magistrate Judge Leavitt seems to have realized that Schiff’s competency in the face of these reports and Cohen’s affidavit raised another fundamental question.  Was Schiff competent to stand trial?  The Supreme Court has made clear that to convict an incompetent individual runs afoul of the Constitution.  Pate v. Robinson, 383 U.S. 375 TA \l "Pate v. Robinson, 383 U.S. 375" \s "Pate v. Robinson, 383 U.S. 375" \c 1 , 378, 86 S.Ct. 836, 836 (1966).  Schiff’s competency to stand trial cannot be assumed.  Since there was no competency hearing and no adequate finding of competency, his conviction should be reversed.  

Doubt regarding Schiff’s competency came up at trial.  

“THE COURT:  Mr. Schiff, the issue is whether you are competent to represent yourself and that’s what I have to deal with.  And, based on what I have seen, I am still in doubt as to whether you are.  However, another judge has – has conducted a hearing into this at length and determined that you are competent to represent yourself.”  

Tr. 565

It is unclear whether Judge Dawson was referring to the proceeding on April 14, 2004 before Magistrate Judge Leen or the proceeding on September 6, 2005 before Magistrate Judge Leavitt.  Irrespective, there had been no knowing inquiry into Schiff’s competency, no hearing and no judicial finding as to his competency.  Furthermore, because no standby or advisory counsel had been appointed by Magistrate Judge Leen in April 2004, the trial court had no option.  Leventhal, Schiff’s standby counsel, had only “been associated with this case for a week” and was not “ready to represent Mr. Schiff because . . . he hadn’t had time to prepare.”  Tr. 557 (the prosecutor) and 558 (the trial judge).  

Completely ignored at every stage is that 18 U.S.C. § 4241 TA \s "18 U.S.C. § 4241"  “requires” the court to conduct a competency hearing “if reasonable cause exists regarding a defendant’s competency.”   U.S. v. George, 83 F.3d 1433 TA \l "U.S. v. George, 83 F.3d 1433" \s "U.S. v. George, 83 F.3d 1433" \c 1 , 1437 (9th Cir. 1996).  As noted by the Supreme Court in Drope TA \s "Drope v. Missouri, 420 U.S. 162"  v. Missouri, there are no “fixed or immutatable” signs “since the” question is . . . a difficult one in which a “wide range of manifestations and subtle nuances” may be implicated.  Drope TA \s "Drope v. Missouri, 420 U.S. 162"  at 180.  Here there were no subtle nuances to examine.  There were two psychiatric reports that Schiff suffered from mental illness.  There was a detailed affidavit from an officer of the court that Schiff had “a mixed type delusional disorder involving grandiosity and persecution.”  R. 56, p. 23.  As noted in U.S. v. Collins, 949 F.2d. 921 TA \l "U.S. v. Collins, 949 F.2d. 921" \s "U.S. v. Collins, 949 F.2d. 921" \c 1 , 926 (7th Cir. 1991), counsel’s input was not to be ignored.  These facts and the statute compelled a hearing.  18 U.S.C. § 4241 TA \s "18 U.S.C. § 4241"  “requires a competency hearing.”  George TA \s "U.S. v. George, 83 F.3d 1433"  at 1437.  “Following the examination, a judicial determination of competency or incompetency is required, regardless of the opinions expressed in the report.”  United States v. Bradshaw TA \s "U.S. v. Bradshaw, 690 F.2d 704" , 690 F.2d 704, 712 (9th Cir. 1982) (emphasis added).  “A judicial determination of competence or incompetence is required . . . regardless of the content of the report.”  Chavez TA \s "U.S. v. Chavez, 656 F.2d 512"  v. United States, 656 F.2d 512, 517 (9th Cir. 1981) (emphasis added).  The Benchbook TA \s "U.S. District Court Judge’s Benchbook"  states that “(t)he court shall hold an evidentiary hearing (and) ‘defendant shall be represented by counsel.’”  Benchbook TA \s "U.S. District Court Judge’s Benchbook" , 1.12, A.3, p. 54.  The Benchbook TA \s "U.S. District Court Judge’s Benchbook"  does no more here than quote the statutory mandate of 18 U.S.C. § 4247 TA \s "18 U.S.C. § 4247" .  
18 U.S.C. § 4241 TA \s "18 U.S.C. § 4241"  states that “[t]he hearing be conducted pursuant to  . . . 18 U.S.C. § 4247 TA \s "18 U.S.C. § 4247" (d).”  18 U.S.C. § 4247 TA \s "18 U.S.C. § 4247" (d) states that “[t]he subject of the hearing shall be represented by counsel,” “afforded an opportunity to testify, to present evidence, to subpoena witnesses on his behalf, and to confront and cross-examine witnesses.” None of this occurred.  The rights enumerated in 18 U.S.C. § 4247 TA \s "18 U.S.C. § 4247"  speak to an adversarial hearing in which Schiff would be represented by counsel and at which he could subpoena Dr. Ortega, Dr. Barry and Mr. Cohan and cross-examine Dr. Hayes, after which the court would render a decision which this Court could then review.  

A determination of competency in these circumstances is an “inherently judicial” task, and the ultimate decision must be made by a Title III Judge, not a Coeur d’ Alene, Idaho clinical psychologist or even by a magistrate judge.  Glidden v. Zdanok, 370 U.S. 530 TA \l "Glidden v. Zdanok, 370 U.S. 530" \s "Glidden v. Zdanok, 370 U.S. 530" \c 1 , 549, 82 S.Ct. 1459 (1973).  The magistrate judge may conduct the actual hearing and submit to the district court “proposed findings of fact and recommendation for disposition.”  28 U.S.C. 636 (b)(1)(B).  However, the ultimate decision should be made by an Article III judge.  In U.S. v. Rivera-Guerrero, 377 F3d. 1064 TA \l "U.S. v. Rivera-Guerrero, 377 F3d. 1064" \s "U.S. v. Rivera-Guerrero, 377 F3d. 1064" \c 1 , 1070 (9th Cir. 2004), this court held that “involuntary medication” decision was “not the type of pretrial matter that Congress intended to delegate to magistrate judges.”  In doing so, it referenced the District Court’s local rule allowing a magistrate judge to hear motions for psychiatric examinations and to enter orders for those examinations.  Rivera-Guerrero TA \s "U.S. v. Rivera-Guerrero, 377 F3d. 1064"  pointedly did not put its imprimater on a magistrate judge making “inherently judicial” determination of a defendant’s competency where there is conflicting evidence without the district court’s “de novo review.”  Rivera-Guerrero TA \s "U.S. v. Rivera-Guerrero, 377 F3d. 1064"  at 1070-1071.  

The magistrate judge and the government apparently viewed Dr. Hayes’ report as the final determination.  The statute and case law is squarely against such a conclusion.  “Failure to order a hearing . . . deprives a defendant due process of law.”  U.S. v. White, 887 F.2d 705 TA \l "U.S. v. White, 887 F.2d 705" \s "U.S. v. White, 887 F.2d 705" \c 1 , 709 (6th Cir. 1989) citing Pate v. Robinson TA \s "Pate v. Robinson, 383 U.S. 375"  at 378.  Irrespective of the Title III judge issue here, Magistrate Judge Leavitt allowed Dr. Hayes to decide the issue without ever hearing from Dr. Ortega or Dr. Barry and without allowing Schiff or his counsel to cross-examine Dr. Hayes.  One can only speculate what the cross-examination of Dr. Hayes would have yielded.  
Not only was there no hearing and no judicial finding as to Schiff’s competency, there was also no knowing and intelligent waiver by Schiff of his Sixth Amendment right to counsel.  When Schiff was before Magistrate Judge Leen, the government failed to inform her of Cohan’s affidavit and the psychiatric reports from Dr. Ortega and Dr. Berry.  Thus, it can hardly be said that Magistrate Judge Leen’s finding of competency was informed or adequate.  The hearing before Magistrate Judge Leavitt on September 6, 2005, was clearly neither a competency hearing nor a knowing and intelligent waiver of counsel.  Most importantly, Schiff said over and over again on September 6, 2005, that he wanted a lawyer.  The clear impetus for not appointing counsel was the trial date of September 12, 2005, six (6) days later.  

There was clearly “reasonable cause” as defined in Drope TA \s "Drope v. Missouri, 420 U.S. 162"  v. Missouri, to question Schiff’s competency in April 2004.  Given the psychiatric reports and counsel’s affidavit the court was obligated to hold an evidentiary hearing to determine whether Schiff was competent to stand trial and waive his Sixth Amendment right to counsel.  It must be said that this was not the fault of Magistrate Judge Leen since she was unaware of the reports and Cohan’s affidavit at that time.  The government, however, was aware of them and did nothing.  Magistrate Judge Leen did become aware of them in February 2005, but ordered no hearing  The fact that there was no hearing is directly contrary to the dictates of 18 U.S.C. § 4241 TA \s "18 U.S.C. § 4241"  and 4247 TA \s "18 U.S.C. § 4247" .  On this basis  alone Schiff’s conviction should be vacated.  Even apart from Schiff’s competency, this record, especially the transcript of September 6, 2005, does not establish that he knowingly and voluntarily waived this crucial constitutional right.  For these reasons, Schiff’s conviction should be vacated.  
II.
THE COURT ERRED IN ITS SUMMARY FINDING OF CONTEMPT TC "II.
THE COURT ERRED IN ITS SUMMARY FINDING OF CONTEMPT" \f C \l "2" 
At the beginning of Schiff’s sentencing hearing, the court asked “(a)re defendant and counsel ready to proceed,” to which Schiff’s counsel said yes.  ER 4, p. 4.  Before going ahead with sentencing, the court stated “it would be an appropriate time to address . . . the contempt citations.”  ER 4, p. 6.  The court then stated the following:

On Day 10 after, again, numerous warnings concerning his making of false statements concerning the law to the jury, he was sanctioned one day and was warned that the sanctions would double with each succeeding contempt.  

On Day 11, he was sanctioned twice.  

On Day 13, he was sanctioned once.  

On Day 14, he was sanctioned twice.  

On Day 16, he was sanctioned three times.  

On Day 17, he was sanctioned once.  

On Day 18, he was sanctioned three times.  

And on Day 20, he was sanctioned twice.  

ER 4, pp. 6-7.  

By way of explanation the trial court reasoned as follows:  

Each of these sanctions was – imposed with just the word “sanction.”  However – and – and the reason for that was that the Court did not want to let the sanctions overly influence the jury.  The sanctions were imposed after dozens and dozens of warnings for the defendant to discontinue his contemptuous behavior.  

The total sanctions are 15.  Because of the cumulative effect of 15 sanctions, being doubled, the Court has decided that – that I would set the upper limit at 30 days, or one month.  

So, on the first sanction, it was one day; on the second sanction, it was two days; on the third, four days; on the fourth, eight days; on the fifth, 16 days for a total of approximately one month cumulatively as of sanction number five.  

Thereafter, what I have decided to do is impose one month for each successive sanction resulting in a total of 12 months as the sentence for contempt citations during trial.   

The Court finds that the defendant’s actions during trial, his contemptuous actions, were part of his trial strategy.  He knew that no attorney would engage in the tactics that he employed, to do so would risk disbarment.  An attorney is prohibited by rules of ethics from making knowing misstatements of the law.  The defendant, accordingly, was not bound by those ethical constrictions.  And the most he could hope for was to convince the jury that his repeated assertions of false statements of law would convince the jury either that he was correct or that the judge was trying to keep something from the jury.  

It is the Court that instructs on the law, not the accused.  The law of the case was decided before trial.  The defendant challenged the law; those legal challenges were denied.  The appropriate process to challenge a court’s rulings of law is appellate review, not to insist on continuing to tell the jury your version of what the law should be.  

After being informed of all of that, the defendant continued to testify to the jury and attempt to argue his version of the law.  

.  .  .  .

Accordingly, the Court enters a sentence for contempt of 12 months to be served consecutive to the – to any sentence that is imposed in this case.  

ER 4, pp. 7-9.  

18 U.S.C. 401 sets forth the power of a court to punish contempt.  Rule 42 TA \s "Rule 42 of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure"  of the Cr.R.Fed.P. sets forth “the procedural requirements” for prosecuting and punishing criminal contempt.  U.S. v. Armstrong, 781 F.2d 700 TA \l "U.S. v. Armstrong, 781 F.2d 700" \s "U.S. v. Armstrong, 781 F.2d 700" \c 1  (9th Cir. 1986).  Rule 42 TA \s "Rule 42 of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure"  (b) deals specifically with “summary contempt.”  

(b) Summary Disposition.  Notwithstanding any other provisions of these rules, the court (other than a magistrate judge) may summarily punish a person who commits criminal contempt in its presence if the judge saw or heard the contemptuous conduct and so certifies; a magistrate judge may summarily punish a person as provided in 28 U.S.C. § 636(e).  The contempt order must recite the facts, be signed by the judge, and be filed with the clerk.  

18 U.S.C. 401 was “a drastic delimitation” of the undefined power of federal courts, limiting them to their power “in contempt cases.”  In re McConnell, 370 U.S. 230 TA \l "In re McConnell, 370 U.S. 230" \s "In re McConnell, 370 U.S. 230" \c 1 , 82 S.Ct. 1288 (1962).  

To preserve the kind of trials that our system envisages, Congress has limited the summary contempt power vested in courts to the least possible power adequate to prevent actual obstruction of justice, and we think that that power did not extend to this case.  

McConnell TA \s "In re McConnell, 370 U.S. 230"  at 1292.  
Criminal contempt is “misbehavior . . . in the presence” of the court which “obstruct(s) the administration of justice.”  18 U.S.C. § 401 TA \l "18 U.S.C. § 401" \s "18 U.S.C. § 401" \c 2 .  Per Rule 42 TA \s "Rule 42 of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure"  (b), the contempt order or certification “must recite the facts, be signed by the judge and filed by the clerk.”  Such a recitation is required to meet “the notice and hearing requirements of 42(b).”  In Re Gustafason TA \s "In Re Gustafason, 619 F.2d 1314"  at 1356 (9th Cir. 1980).  A reference to the transcript is insufficient.  U.S. v. Matthews TA \s "United States v. Matthews, 49 F.2d 676" , 49 F.2d 676, 678 (11th Cir. 1995).  The contempt order need not be overly detailed, but must recite the relevant facts “with appropriate references to the record so as to make their nature and contumacious tendency” clear.  In re Williams, 509 F.2d 949 TA \l "In re Williams, 509 F.2d 949" \s "In re Williams, 509 F.2d 949" \c 1  (2nd Cir. 1975).  “This requirement is more than a formality.  It is essential.”  U.S. v. Mars, 551 F.2d 711 TA \l "U.S. v. Mars, 551 F.2d 711" \s "U.S. v. Mars, 551 F.2d 711" \c 1  (6th Cir. 1977) quoting U.S. v. Marshall, 451 F.2d 372 TA \l "U.S. v. Marshall, 451 F.2d 372" \s "U.S. v. Marshall, 451 F.2d 372" \c 1 , 375 (9th Cir. 1971).  
Although 42(b) does not require the “notice” requirements of 42(a), due process may not be ignored, hence the absolute requirement of a order reciting the facts, signed by the judge and filed with the clerk.  The appropriate remedy for failure to file a certificate is reversal.  U.S. v. Comil, 497 F.2d 225 TA \l "U.S. v. Comil, 497 F.2d 225" \s "U.S. v. Comil, 497 F.2d 225" \c 1 , 229-30 (5th Cir. 1974).  Only if there is such a certificate can anyone, defendant or this Court, determine if there was “an actual obstruction of justice” (McConnell TA \s "In re McConnell, 370 U.S. 230"  at 1291) and whether it was a “violational act done by one who knows or should reasonably be aware that his conduct is wrongful.”  Rojas v. U.S., 55 F.3d 61 TA \l "Rojas v. U.S., 55 F.3d 61" \s "Rojas v. U.S., 55 F.3d 61" \c 1 , 62 (2nd Cir. 1995).  Informed appellate review is possible only if the facts are stated in sufficient detail.  In re Williams TA \s "In re Williams, 509 F.2d 949"  at 959.  Like any other criminal offense guilt must rest on “the sufficiency of the specifications of wrongdoing on which it is based.”  Tauber v. Gordon, 350 F.2d 843 TA \l "Tauber v. Gordon, 350 F.2d 843" \s "Tauber v. Gordon, 350 F.2d 843" \c 1 ,845 n.1 (3rd Cir. 1965).  “This certificate is necessary in order that it may appear of record just what the judge acted upon and in order that it may not be necessary for the judge to testify.”  Widger v. U.S., 244 F.2d 103 TA \l "Widger v. U.S., 244 F.2d 103" \s "Widger v. U.S., 244 F.2d 103" \c 1  (5th Cir. 1957).  Authorities are uniform in this regard.  See 3A. Wright, Fed. Prac. And Pro, Crim. 3rd § 708 TA \l "Wright, Fed. Prac. And Pro, Crim. 3rd § 708" \s "Wright, Fed. Prac. And Pro, Crim. 3rd § 708" \c 4  and cases cited therein.  Benchbook TA \s "U.S. District Court Judge’s Benchbook" , pp. 188-189 states:

You must prepare, sign, and file an order of contempt.  This order is intended to permit informed appellate review.  The order must contain all that you saw or heard that obstructed the proceedings and by reason of which you found defendant in contempt.  Remember, for your action to be sustained on appeal, the conduct described in your order must constitute an obstruction to the administration of justice.  Be sure, therefore, that the order fully and accurately recites all of the obstructive conduct that you saw or heard.  The order of contempt must contain your certification that the described conduct was seen or heard by you and was committed in your presence.  (emphasis added)
The United States Supreme Court dealt with a very similar situation in Taylor v. Hayes TA \s "Taylor v. Hayes, 418 U.S. 488" , 418 U.S. 488, 94 S.Ct. 2697, 41 L.Ed. 2d 897 (1974).  There a Kentucky judge, after the verdict, cited defendant’s counsel for contempt.  There was no specification of the charges nor was the attorney given an opportunity to respond.  The Court reversed the judgment.  Justice White stated that summary disposition after trial did “not square with . . . Due Process,” “reasonable notice of the specific charges and opportunity to be heard” are required.  Taylor v. Hayes TA \s "Taylor v. Hayes, 418 U.S. 488" , at 497, 499, 2702, 2703.  Notice and the opportunity to be heard “are essential in view of the heightened potential for abuse posed by the contempt power.”  Taylor v. Hayes TA \s "Taylor v. Hayes, 418 U.S. 488" , at 500, 2704, “[R]easonable notice . . . and an opportunity to be heard in defense . . . are basic in our system of jurisprudence.”  Groppi TA \s "Groppi v. Leslie, 404 U.S. 496"  v. Leslie, 404 U.S. 496, 502, 92 S.Ct. 582, 586, 30 L.Ed. 632 (1972).  “[S]ummary disposition is appropriate only when immediate action is needed . . . to restore the court’s authority.”  Benchbook TA \s "U.S. District Court Judge’s Benchbook"  § 7.01, p. 186.  Since the court was acting well after the fact, summary disposition was neither necessary nor appropriate.  When summary disposition is used, the Benchbook TA \s "U.S. District Court Judge’s Benchbook"  advises that court “[a]sk the offender if he or she would care to say anything in mitigation.”  Benchbook TA \s "U.S. District Court Judge’s Benchbook"  § 7.01, p. 188.  Here the court did not even afford the defendant the rudimentary right of elocution, the “the opportunity to speak in mitigation,” as required by Rule 32(i)(4) of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure TA \l "Rule 32(i)(4) of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure" \s "Rule 32(i)(4) of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure" \c 4 .  

In this case we have a “pro se” defendant who, according to reports from two mental health experts, is “delusional.”  All three (3) mental health experts raised serious questions regarding Schiff’s conduct and his motivation.  They offer an explanation that Schiff’s “misbehavior” was not contemptuous, but the result of a man handicapped by mental illness.  

There are also limitations on the punishment to be imposed where the judge serves the fact finder. Rojas TA \s "Rojas v. U.S., 55 F.3d 61"  at 62.  “[T]he highest penalty that may be imposed without a jury trial is generally six months imprisonment.”  Muniz TA \s "Muniz v. Hoffman, 422 U.S. 454"  v. Hoffman, 422 U.S. 454, 476, 95 S.Ct. 2178 (1975).  Here the sentence was twelve  (12) months.  

In this case, without any prior notice of his intention regarding contempt, the court imposed a twelve month sentence.  There was no reason at that stage of proceeding for “immediate action to restore the Court’s authority.”  The trial was over.  There was no order of contempt, and no notice or opportunity to be heard.  These are more than violations of Benchbook TA \s "U.S. District Court Judge’s Benchbook"  admonitions.  They are basic constitutional rights.  Taylor v. Hayes TA \s "Taylor v. Hayes, 418 U.S. 488"  at 497, 499, 2707, Groppi TA \s "Groppi v. Leslie, 404 U.S. 496"  v. Leslie at 502, 586.  The failure of the trial court to acknowledge these basic protections expose the “potential for abuse posed by the contempt power.”  Taylor v. Hayes TA \s "Taylor v. Hayes, 418 U.S. 488"  at 500.  This abuse of power goes beyond the defendant’s contempt conviction.  It exposes a bias and prejudice that infected the entire trial.  For this reason Schiff’s conviction should be reversed and his case remanded for a new trial.  
III.
THE SENTENCE OF SCHIFF, A 78 YEAR OLD MAN WITH MENTAL HEALTH ISSUES, TO 163 MONTHS IN PRISON WAS NOT A REASONABLE SENTENCE TC "III.
THE SENTENCE OF SCHIFF, A 78 YEAR OLD MAN WITH MENTAL HEALTH ISSUES, TO 163 MONTHS IN PRISON WAS NOT A REASONABLE SENTENCE" \f C \l "2" 
In light of U.S. v. Booker TA \s "U.S. v. Booker, 543 U.S. 220" , 543 U.S. 220 (2005), the district court must now consider the factors in 18 U.S.C. § 3553 TA \s "18 U.S.C. § 3553" (a) in imposing a sentence.  In the post-Booker TA \s "U.S. v. Booker, 543 U.S. 220"  world the touchstone is whether a sentence was reasonable taking into account the § 3553 TA \s "18 U.S.C. § 3553" (a) factors including the “history and characteristics of the defendant.”  In U.S. v. Plouffe, 445 F.3d 1126 TA \l "U.S. v. Plouffe, 445 F.3d 1126" \s "U.S. v. Plouffe, 445 F.3d 1126" \c 1  (9th Cir. 2005) this Court pointed out that it will examine a sentence within the advisory guideline range to determine whether it is “unreasonable with regard to the factors set forth in 18 U.S.C. §3553 TA \s "18 U.S.C. § 3553" (a).”  See also U.S. v. Crawford, 407 F.3d 1174 TA \l "U.S. v. Crawford, 407 F.3d 1174" \s "U.S. v. Crawford, 407 F.3d 1174" \c 1 , 1178 (11th Cir. 2005).
  
Schiff’s sentence of 151 months for the tax crimes and another 12 months for contempt was unreasonable.  Defendant was 78 years.  He also had severe mental health problems.  
The trial court, the United States Probation Office and the government barely acknowledged Schiff’s mental illness and completely ignored the impact of a lengthy prison sentence on a seventy-eight year old mentally ill man.  The first Pre-Sentence Investigative Report (“PSR”)
 did not even mention the diagnosis by the three doctors.  Although it stated that Schiff had been “diagnosed as being Bipolar Disorder sometime in the late 1960s” and had been hospitalized in December 1971 for depression, it went no further.  There was also no reference to Schiff’s hospitalization on October 2003 for depression or his current mental health.  PSR, Revision: 1-4-06,  p. 16.  Ultimately, the PSR stated that Dr. Hayes had diagnosed Schiff as having “Bipolar II Disorder with recurrent major depressive episodes and hypomanic episodes.”  It addressed Schiff’s mental illness by requiring that Schiff “participate in and successfully complete a mental health treatment program” upon release from prison.  PSR, Third Revision: 2-8-06, p. 26.  Since that PSR recommended a sentence of 188 months, Schiff would be approximately 91 years old when he embarked upon this mental health treatment program.  The later versions of the PSR also did not mention the October, 2003 hospitalization and the reports of Dr. Ortega and Dr. Barry.  

At sentencing, the government argued that there were “credibility issues” as to Dr. Ortega and Dr. Barry, although it chose not to state what they might be.  All three experts agreed that Schiff was suffering from mental illness.  It was a fact.  Under 18 U.S.C. §3553 TA \s "18 U.S.C. § 3553" (a)(1) his mental illness and his advanced age should have been factors in calculating his sentence.  They were not.  The trial court’s reaction to the mental health reports was that it was not convinced that the “mental capacity of the defendant, reduced as it might have been, contributed substantially to the commission of the offense.”  Tr. 2-24-06, p. 39 (emphasis added).  

The statutory mandate of § 3553 TA \s "18 U.S.C. § 3553" (a), post-Booker TA \s "U.S. v. Booker, 543 U.S. 220" , is that age and mental illness are factors the court is obligated to consider.  If the record does not suggest that such factors were considered, a reviewing court “generally remands” for resentencing.  U.S. v. McBride, 434 F.3d 470 TA \l "U.S. v. McBride, 434 F.3d 470" \s "U.S. v. McBride, 434 F.3d 470" \c 1 , 478 (6th Cir. 2006).  A district court must state sufficiently specific reasons for its sentence so that an appellate court can engage in meaningful review.  U.S. v. Suarez, 939 F.2d 929 TA \l "U.S. v. Suarez, 939 F.2d 929" \s "U.S. v. Suarez, 939 F.2d 929" \c 1 , 933 (11th Cir. 1991).  U.S. v. Butler, 41 F.3d 1435 TA \l "U.S. v. Butler, 41 F.3d 1435" \s "U.S. v. Butler, 41 F.3d 1435" \c 1 , 1437 (11th Cir. 1995) (vacating a sentence and remanding for further proceedings because the district court did not make sufficient factual finding to permit meaningful appellate review).  

District courts must still calculate the guideline range, but after doing so, must consider the factors in § 3553 TA \s "18 U.S.C. § 3553" (a) to determine a reasonable sentence.  U.S. v. Talley, 431 F.3d 784 TA \l "U.S. v. Talley, 431 F.3d 784" \s "U.S. v. Talley, 431 F.3d 784" \c 1 , 788 (11th Cir. 2005).  Although a court does not have to reference each § 3553 TA \s "18 U.S.C. § 3553" (a) factor, the record must show those factors were considered in arriving at the sentence.  Although there is “no robotic” language, there must be sufficient indicia in the record that “reflect an adequate consideration, either implicitly or explicitly, . . . [of] the factors listed in §3553 TA \s "18 U.S.C. § 3553" (a).”  U.S. v. Toohey, 448 F.3d 542 TA \l "U.S. v. Toohey, 448 F.3d 542" \s "U.S. v. Toohey, 448 F.3d 542" \c 1 , 545 (2nd Cir. 2006).  
The sentencing judge did no more than mention the reports from the doctors generically, and then dismiss them, concluding that Schiff’s behavior was motivated by greed rather than his mental illness.  According to the court, the jury had rejected Schiff’s “good faith belief with respect to the tax laws” and therefore the court could not or should not consider his mental illness as a factor at sentencing.  Tr. 2-24-06, p. 38-41.  Irrespective of the jury’s verdict, age and mental health are factors under § 3553 TA \s "18 U.S.C. § 3553" (a) and the court should have considered them.  

The statements of the court at sentencing do not reflect consideration, either implicitly or explicitly, of Schiff’s age or his mental health.  To leave standing a  sentence simply because it may happen to fall within the range of reasonableness unquestionably impugns the fairness, integrity, and public reputation of judicial proceedings.  Indeed, the determination of reasonableness depends not only on an evaluation of the actual sentence imposed but also the method employed in determining it.  

“[R]easonableness is inherently a concept of flexible meaning.”  U.S. v. Cosby, 397 F.3d 103 TA \l "U.S. v. Cosby, 397 F.3d 103" \s "U.S. v. Cosby, 397 F.3d 103" \c 1 , 115 (2nd 2005).  Each case will depend on the specific facts of that case.  U.S. v. Moreland, 437 F.3d 424 TA \l "U.S. v. Moreland, 437 F.3d 424" \s "U.S. v. Moreland, 437 F.3d 424" \c 1 , 432 (4th Cir. 2006).  Two of the more compelling facts in Schiff’s case were his advanced age, 78 as of February 24, 2006, and his mental health.  According to the Bureau of Prisons, his mandatory release date is October 10, 2016.  www.BOP.gov.  The United States Life Tables state that a white male 78 years of age (his age at sentencing) has a life expectancy of 8.7 years.  The 151 month sentence for the tax offenses and an additional 12 months for the contempt make his sentence a life sentence.  He will likely die in prison.  
In U.S. v. Wurzinger, 467 F.3d 649 TA \l "U.S. v. Wurzinger, 467 F.3d 649" \s "U.S. v. Wurzinger, 467 F.3d 649" \c 1 , 652 (7th Cir. 2006) the Seventh Circuit noted that “[t]here was a worthy tradition that death in prison is not to be ordered lightly, and the probability that a convict will not live out his sentence should certainly give pause to a sentencing court.”  Here the court augmented his sentence for the tax offenses with a 12 month sentence for contempt.  Very relevant here is a statement made by District Judge Hellerstein in U.S. v. Carvajal, 2005 U.S. Lexis 3076 TA \l "U.S. v. Carvajal, 2005 U.S. Lexis 3076" \s "U.S. v. Carvajal, 2005 U.S. Lexis 3076" \c 1  (S.D.N.Y. 2005):

Hope is the necessary condition of mankind, for we are all created in the image of God.  A judge should be hesitant before sentencing so severely that he destroys all hope and takes away all possibility of useful life.  Punishment should not be more severe than that necessary to satisfy the goals of punishment.  
For the above stated reasons, Schiff’s sentence should be vacated and remanded for re-sentencing.  The court’s refusal to consider age and mental illness also reflects bias and prejudice against Schiff.  For this reason, it is respectfully suggested that Schiff’s conviction be reversed and his case be remanded for a new trial.  
IV.
THE COURT ERRED IN DENYING SCHIFF’S MOTION TO RECUSE TC "IV.
THE COURT ERRED IN DENYING SCHIFF’S MOTION TO RECUSE" \f C \l "2" 
After the verdict, the judge ordered the defendant detained.  In his detention order he made the following finding of fact:  defendant “has fomented threats to the safety of the Court and its personnel.  
ER 9.  
There can be no doubt that the court had concluded that there were “threats to the safety of the Court” and Schiff was responsible.  At the sentencing the Court stated: “[T]he Court is “not aware of any credible threats directly from the defendant against the Court.  . . .  
While the defendant did, during the . . . trial, participate in things that may have fomented actions against the Government and court personnel, [t]he Court . . . has no information that would link that or any of it directly to Mr. Schiff.”  ER 4, p. 5 (emphasis added).  

The difference between these two statements is not subtle.  “Threats” became no “credible threats.”  Schiff’s “threats” became did “participate in things.”  “Fomented” became “may have fomented.”  “Threats to the safety of the Court and its personnel” became “actions against the government and court personnel.”  What were sufficient grounds for jailing Schiff in October 2005 no longer existed four months later, and without explanation.  The only change between the court’s finding of fact at the detention hearing and its statement at sentencing was the filing of Schiff’s Motion To Disqualify.  R. 365.  
Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 455 TA \l "28 U.S.C. § 455" \s "28 U.S.C. § 455" \c 2  (a), “[a]ny justice, judge, or magistrate judge of the United States shall disqualify himself in any proceeding in which his impartiality might reasonably be questioned.”  (Emphasis added.)  This is the “catch-all recusal provision, covering both interest and relationship and bias and prejudice grounds.”  Liteky v. United States, 510 U.S. 540 TA \l "Liteky v. United States, 510 U.S. 540" \s "Liteky v. United States, 510 U.S. 540" \c 1 , 548, 114 S.Ct. 1147 (1994).  28 U.S.C. § 455 TA \s "28 U.S.C. § 455"  (b)(1) requires that “he shall also disqualify himself . . . [w]here has a personal bias or prejudice concerning a party.”  
In order to determine whether disqualification is appropriate, the court must consider “whether a reasonable person with knowledge of all the facts would conclude that the judge’s impartiality might reasonably be questioned.”  U.S. v. Wilkerson, 208 F.3d 794 TA \l "U.S. v. Wilkerson, 208 F.3d 794" \s "U.S. v. Wilkerson, 208 F.3d 794" \c 1 , 787 (9th Cir. 2000).  Actual bias is not necessary, the appearance of bias is sufficient.  U.S. v. Sibla, 624 F.2d 864 TA \l "U.S. v. Sibla, 624 F.2d 864" \s "U.S. v. Sibla, 624 F.2d 864" \c 1 , 867 (9th Cir. 1980).  In U.S. v. Conforte, 624 F.2d 869 TA \l "U.S. v. Conforte, 624 F.2d 869" \s "U.S. v. Conforte, 624 F.2d 869" \c 1 , 881 (9th Cir. 1980) then Judge Kennedy wrote that “the appearance of [im]partiality is as dangerous as the fact of it.”  
In U.S. v. Greenspan, 26 F.3d 1001 TA \l "U.S. v. Greenspan, 26 F.3d 1001" \s "U.S. v. Greenspan, 26 F.3d 1001" \c 1  (10th Cir. 1994), the district judge expedited the defendant’s sentencing after learning from the FBI that it had begun an investigation into a conspiracy involving the defendant to kill the judge or members of his family.  Greenspan TA \s "U.S. v. Greenspan, 26 F.3d 1001"  at 1005.  The Tenth Circuit concluded that the district judge should have recused himself, pursuant to § 455 TA \s "28 U.S.C. § 455"  (a), because it was “obvious” that a reasonable person would have questioned the judge’s impartiality.  Greenspan TA \s "U.S. v. Greenspan, 26 F.3d 1001"  at 1007.  The Tenth Circuit specifically noted that recusal was required.  Similarly, In U.S. v. Cerrella, 529 F.Supp. 1373 TA \l "U.S. v. Cerrella, 529 F.Supp. 1373" \s "U.S. v. Cerrella, 529 F.Supp. 1373" \c 1 , 1374-5 (S.D. Fla. 1982), the district judge recused himself after trial, but before sentencing, after learning that the defendant had expressed an intention to kill the judge and had hired a hit man.  

What are the facts here?  We do not know because there is no explanation in the record.  The Government, in its response to Schiff’s motion, made no effort to deny the allegation that there was an ongoing investigation but it requested that the Court put on the record “any threats or other facts that . . . might impact the court’s impartiality.”  R. 369, p. 2.  Notwithstanding the government’s invitation, the district court judge made a deliberate choice not to do so.  Rather, the Court retreated from its earlier finding of fact.  Why?  Common sense and logic suggest that this refusal to put the facts on the record was not inadvertent.  Instead, it shows at the very least, the court’s awareness of its previous statements of bias, and, an effort to minimize those statements to conceal the court’s true feelings about the defendant.  
Section 455 TA \s "28 U.S.C. § 455" (b)(1) involves a “reasonable man test.”  Cerrella at 1380. The focal point is “whether . . . given all the facts . . . there are reasonable grounds for finding that the judge could not (act) fairly either because of the appearance or fact of bias or prejudice.”  Conforte TA \s "U.S. v. Conforte, 624 F.2d 869"  at 881.  There can be no doubt that these facts would cause a reasonable man to question the court’s bias.  The court made a “finding of fact” from which he retreated rather than disclose it.  The retreat raises serious an issue as the “finding of fact” itself.  
Since we do know when the “threats to the safety of the Court” occurred, this Court cannot conclude that the bias of the trial court did not infect the trial and the trial court’s rulings.  For this reason, this court should vacate defendant’s conviction and remand this case to a different judge for a new trial.  
V.
THE SO-CALLED “0” TAX RETURNS WERE NOT FALSE AND FRAUDULENT TC "V.
THE SO-CALLED \“0\” TAX RETURNS WERE NOT FALSE AND FRAUDULENT" \f C \l "2" 
Schiff was charged in Count 1 with conspiracy to defraud the United States by the filing of “false and fraudulent” “zero returns” in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 371 TA \s "18 U.S.C. § 371"  (Count 1).  He was charged in Counts 2 through 6 with aiding and abetting the preparation of “false and fraudulent” “zero returns” in violation of 21 U.S.C. § 7206 TA \s "26 U.S.C. 7206" (2).  He was charged in Counts 18 through 23 with filing returns which he “did not believe to be true and correct” in violation of 26 U.S.C. § 7206 TA \s "26 U.S.C. 7206" (1).  R 1.  In order to prove Schiff guilty the government had to prove that by filing the “zero” returns he was willfully attempting to deceive the IRS.  

The evidence regarding the tax returns offered by the government was that Schiff was a long time tax offender and antagonist of the Internal Revenue Service (IRS), having written a number of books highly critical of the IRS.  Schiff and his books argued that “income taxes” were voluntary and that the word “income” as used in the tax code only means income from corporate profits.  Tr. 2234.  Schiff not only wrote books, but lectured, spoke at seminars and was regularly featured on the radio regarding his beliefs.  Schiff and his book candidly acknowledged his checkered history with the IRS, including stints in jail for various tax offenses.  The government’s evidence as to Schiff consisted of the testimony of seven taxpayers who heard Schiff speak, consulted with him, believed in his theories regarding income taxes and then filed so-called “zero” tax returns, James V. Dentice (Tr. 2195-2271, Counts 2, 3 & 4); Charles Earnest (Tr. 2346-2402, Counts 1 & 5); Farooq Abdulla (2272-2345, Count 1 & 6); Nancy Driscoll (2778-2887, Count 1); Brian Allin (2650-2777, Count 1); and William Waller (3413-3542, Count 1).

Each told a similar story.  They met defendant, listened to his views, and bought various books, tapes and monologues explaining his arguments that the IRS was acting illegally and that income taxes are  voluntary.  Each acknowledged that in support of his arguments Schiff cited case law and statutes, including sections of the tax code.  Taxpayers also acknowledged doing their own research, buying and studying the tax code and forming a belief that the “zero return” was truthful.  Tr. 955-959, 978-982, 1000, 1117-1129.  Their position regarding income taxes was that since they had “no statutory income,” it was perfectly truthful to put a “0” on line 7 of the tax return for “wages, salaries, tips, etc.”  Tr. 1129.  Thus, the moniker “zero return.”  Each taxpayer attached to the return a letter, the wording of which they received from one of Schiff’s publications, setting forth the legal argument for the “0” on line 7 of the 1040.  The IRS was very familiar with this analysis and its legal basis, referring to “0” returns as “U.S. v. Long returns.”  Tr. 1585.  
The IRS responded universally to these returns with a so-called “frivolous letter.”  

“You show your income as zero based on arguments that only income derived from corporate activities is taxable and since you had no such income, you can only swear to having ‘zero’ income.  

The position you have taken has no basis in law and represents a frivolous position.”  Tr. 1555

What is plainly apparent from the government’s evidence is that neither those taxpayers nor Schiff was attempting to deceive the IRS.  Even in the eyes of the IRS they were not making false statements; rather they were making frivolous “legal arguments.”  Most returns attached W-2 forms showing the receipt of wages and withholding?
  It is absolutely obvious that these returns were not designed to conceal the existence of wages, tips, etc.  Rather the return was designed to take issue with the IRS’s and the Government’s notion of what was “income.”  The government uniformly responded to the filing of these returns with a form letter stating that the “legal arguments” were “frivolous.”  The “zero” on the wages line and the attached letter alerted the IRS to the fact that this was a “U.S. v. Long return.”  According to the court, the returns were based on  Schiff’s “faulty legal analysis.”  Tr. 2727-2728.  
Special Agent Kristy Morgan was the “civil penalty coordinator in the Frivolous Files Department of the IRS.”  Tr. 1535.  Her job was to respond to returns posturing “frivolous arguments.”  She drafted the form letter stating the returns have “no basis in law and represents a frivolous position.”  Tr. 1555.  Agent Morgan’s testimony referred to these returns as presenting various “types of arguments.”  Depending on the “argument,” the second paragraph of the frivolous letter might change.  Tr. 1559-1560.  Morgan referred to these returns as returns arguing that there was no tax liability for “constitutional issues . . . and religious issues.”  “(W)e call them arguments.”  Tr. 1583.  In fact, the IRS gives each of these “arguments” “a number” and the “letter would change . . . based on what type of argument was on the tax return.”  Tr. 1583.  The letters attached to the “zero returns” contained “the same basic verbiage.”  Tr. 1585.  These taxpayers were making legal arguments, not misstating facts or concealing the existence of wages, etc.  The return, far from influencing or deceiving the IRS regarding wages, tips, etc., was a red flag alert that the return was stating a legal “argument.”  Tr. 2727-2728.  
The “0” on line 7 of the IRS 1040 form for “wages, salaries, tips, etc.” was not a factual statement and the IRS did not take it as factual statement.  In U.S. v. Boulware, 384 F.3d 794 TA \l "U.S. v. Boulware 384 F.3d 794" \s "U.S. v. Boulware 384 F.3d 794" \c 1  (9th Cir. 2004), the defendant had diverted funds to his girlfriend, wife, employees and friends who in turn returned cash to him and submitted phony invoices to substantiate payment to bogus entities which he then used to support a lavish lifestyle.  This money was omitted from line 7.  Boulware TA \s "U.S. v. Boulware 384 F.3d 794"  put the number on line 7 to deceive the IRS as to what Boulware TA \s "U.S. v. Boulware 384 F.3d 794" ’s income was that year.  This case is different because, the “0” on line 7 and the letter attached to the return alerted the IRS to a legal position as opposed to Boulware’s statement of fact.  For the same reason, this case is distinguishable from U.S. v. Pree, 408 F.3d 855 TA \l "U.S. v. Pree, 408 F.3d 855" \s "U.S. v. Pree, 408 F.3d 855" \c 1 , 866 (7th Cir. 2005) (the defendant lied about various stock sales on her return in order to conceal the proceeds from the IRS) and U.S. v. Marshall TA \s "U.S. v. Marshall, 451 F.2d 372" , 92 F.3d 758 (8th Cir. 1996) (a tax preparer listed fictitious dependants and claimed false health care credits of which the taxpayers were unaware in order to enable him to receive refunds via the electronic filing system used by the IRS).  

Cheek v. U.S., 498 U.S. 192 TA \l "Cheek v. U.S., 498 U.S. 192" \s "Cheek v. U.S., 498 U.S. 192" \c 1 , 111 S.Ct. 604 (1991) and its progeny have long recognized a heightened intent element for prosecutions under 26 U.S.C. §7206 TA \s "26 U.S.C. 7206" .  In Spies v. U.S., 317 U.S. 492 TA \l "Spies v. U.S., 317 U.S. 492" \s "Spies v. U.S., 317 U.S. 492" \c 1 , 63 S.Ct. 364, 368 (1943) willfulness was seen as conduct designed “to mislead or conceal.”  In U.S. v. Voorhees, 619 F.2d 710 TA \l "U.S. v. Voorhees, 619 F.2d 710" \s "U.S. v. Voorhees, 619 F.2d 710" \c 1 , 715 (9th Cir. 1981), this Court likened willfulness to the traditional “badges of fraud,” not frivolous “arguments.”  In U.S. v. Kaatz, 705 F.2d 1237 TA \l "U.S. v. Kaatz, 705 F.2d 1237" \s "U.S. v. Kaatz, 705 F.2d 1237" \c 1 , 1246 (10th Cir. 1983) the Court referenced willfulness as “concealment of assets or covering up assets or . . . sources of information . . . the likely effect of which would be to mislead or conceal.”  Here the very opposite was true.  The focus here must be on the intent of Schiff and taxpayers.  Their intent was not to deceive the IRS.  They were upfront about their differences with the IRS interpretation of “income.”  The IRS did not respond that the returns were false or fraudulent, but rather were a mistaken interpretation of the tax laws.  While such returns run the risk of penalties, interest, an IRS tax assessment, liens and collection proceedings, they do not constitute criminal fraud.  Such civil penalties follow the observation by the United States Supreme Court that there should be only a “penalty suitable to (the) degree of delinquency.”  Spies TA \s "Spies v. U.S., 317 U.S. 492"  at 497.  Schiff was spoiling for debate, just as he was at trial.  He wanted to proselytize not deceive.  The “0” return was not an intentional effort to conceal, but to commence the litigation he so obviously craved.  

The Government’s argument throughout the trial was that Schiff had specific notice in his own cases and the case law generally that his legal analysis was without merit.  According to the Government’s logic, since his arguments were repeatedly rejected he could not continue to hold those views in good faith.  This rationale would be persuasive if Schiff were rational.  The fly in the ointment was that Schiff was neither a proverbial reasonable man nor was he rational.  According to Dr. Barry, he was suffering from a “delusional disorder.”  His “distorted beliefs” were such that “this belief system is not under voluntary control.”  His “behavior is not rational.”  ER 6, p. 2.  According to Dr. Hayes, his beliefs were “extremely rigid, fixed inflexible such that he is convinced that the law does not require him to pay taxes.”  Dr. Hayes opined that Schiff’s analysis of the tax laws was “being driven by his mental illness” and that Schiff was “impervious to suggestions that he reconsider his conclusions or his actions.”  ER 7, p. B-6.  

For the above reasons Schiff’s convictions on counts 1-6, and 17-23 should be reversed.  
VI.
THE CUMULATIVE EFFECT OF THE TRIAL COURT’S ERRORS REQUIRES REVERSAL OF SCHIFF’S CONVICTION TC "VI.
THE CUMULATIVE EFFECT OF THE TRIAL COURT’S ERRORS REQUIRES REVERSAL OF SCHIFF’S CONVICTION" \f C \l "2" 
The cumulative effect of the Trial court’s errors prevented Schiff from presenting his defense to the jury and violated his right to a fair trial.  In cases where “there are a number of errors at trial, a balkanized, issue-by-issue harmless error review is far less effective than analyzing the overall effect of all the errors in the context of the evidence introduced at trial against the defendant.”  U.S. v. Frederick, 78 F.3d 1370 TA \l "U.S. v. Frederick, 78 F.3d 1370" \s "U.S. v. Frederick, 78 F.3d at 1370" \c 1  (9th Cir. 1996); see, e.g., U.S. v. Berry, 627 F.2d 193 TA \l "U.S. v. Berry, 627 F.2d 193" \s "U.S. v. Berry, 627 F.2d 193" \c 1 , 201 (9th Cir. 1980) (even if a particular error is cured by an instruction, the court should consider any “traces” that may remain).  Under this analysis, the cumulative impact of the trial court’s errors requires reversal, even if each error standing alone could be disregarded.  

The tenor of this case was difficult to understand from the perspective of a pro se litigant.  On March 24, 2004 the indictment in this case was filed in the District Court.  On April 1, 2004 defendant Schiff filed four separate motions to dismiss.  R. 13-16.  The government filed its response on October 7, 2004.  R. 60.  Schiff filed a reply on November 23, 2004.  The Magistrate Judge filed his report and recommendations on December 7, 2004 and Schiff his objections thereto on December 30, 2004.  R. 85 & 107.  On April 26, 2005 Schiff filed a motion for oral argument on these motions.  R. 135.  The trial court did not rule on these until August 31, 2005, the eve of trial.  R. 199.  

On June 15 and 18, 2004 Schiff filed a motion to dismiss counts 18-23 and a motion to suppress the evidence taken in the search of Freedom Books.  R. 42 & 43.  The Magistrate Judge filed his report and recommendations December 21, 2004.  R. 95.  The defendant filed his objections on January 4, 2005.  R. 109.  The trial court did not rule on these motions until September 9, 2005, three days before the trial.  R. 222.  

On August 12, 2004 Schiff filed a motion to dismiss count 1 of the indictment.  R. 54.  The Magistrate Judge filed his report and recommendations on January 11, 2005, but the motion was not denied until September 9, 2005, thirteen (13) months after it was filed.  R. 226.  

Schiff filed another motion to dismiss on December 3, 2004.  R. 80.  The trial court did not rule on this motion until September 9, 2005.  R. 226.

On April 28, 2005 Schiff filed a motion to dismiss counts 1 and 17.  R. 136.  This motion was denied on September 9, 2005.  R. 234.  
On July 7, 2005 the government filed a motion to preclude Schiff from testifying as an expert regarding the “tax laws.”  R. 154, 158-160.  The court did not rule on this motion until September 9, 2005.  R. 230.  

On July 5, 2005 defendant filed another motion to dismiss.  R. 155.  The court again waited until September 9, 2005, to deny this motion.  R. 232.  

On July 15, 2005 Schiff filed a motion to suppress bank records “illegally acquired.”  R. 163.  This motion was denied on September 12, 2005, the day trial began.  R. 231.  

[D]efendants . . . are entitled to a ruling on their motion(s).”  U.S. v. Atkinson, 135 F.3d 1363 TA \l "U.S. v. Atkinson, 135 F.3d 1363" \s "U.S. v. Atkinson, 135 F.3d 1363" \c 1 , 1369 n.11 (11th Cir. 1998).  According to the courts in Atkinson and U.S. v. Barletta, 644 F.2d 50 TA \l "U.S. v. Barletta, 644 F.2d 50" \s "U.S. v. Barletta, 644 F.2d 50" \c 1 , 57-58 (1ST Cir. 1981) “a district court must rule on any issue entirely segregable from the evidence to be presented at trial in advance of trial.”  See also U.S. v. Jones,  542 F.2d 661 TA \l "U.S. v. Jones,  542 F.2d 661" \s "U.S. v. Jones,  542 F.2d 661" \c 1 , 664-665 (6th Cir. 1976).  Schiff was entitled to resolution of these motions sufficiently in advance of trial in order that he could prepare for trial.  Rule 12 TA \s "Rule 12, Federal Rules Criminal Procedure" (d) provides “a mechanism for insuring that a defendant knows the government’s intentions.”  Rule 12, Federal Rules Criminal Procedure TA \s "Rule 12, Federal Rules Criminal Procedure" , Advisory Committee Notes to 1974 Amendment.  

Although seasoned practitioners might have anticipated the court’s ultimate rulings on these motions, Schiff was pro se.  It was not unreasonable for him to anticipate a ruling far enough in advance of trial for him to adequately prepare.  The admissibility of evidence taken from the office of Freedom Books pursuant to a search warrant and the admissibility of allegedly “illegally acquired” bank records would significantly impact the trial, and, more importantly, Schiff’s preparation and understanding of the evidence against him.  The court had also not ruled on the government’s effort to preclude Schiff’s testimony as an expert on the “tax laws.”  Given his self proclaimed expertise, this eve of trial ruling, if adverse to him, would play havoc with his preparation.  Uncertainty until the very eve of trial would make trial preparation extremely difficult for an experienced trial attorney.  The court’s delay, without explanation, could only serve to exacerbate the problems presented to a pro se litigant.  Would the fruits of the search of Freedom Books be available to the government?  Would the allegedly “illegally acquired” bank records come in as evidence?  Would some or all of the charges against him be dismissed?  Would he need another expert given the content of government’s motion to exclude his expertise?  Would such expert testimony even be admissible?  These uncertainties, aggravated by Schiff’s status as a pro se litigant and his mental illness, created a recipe for the disaster which the trial ultimately became.  

When Schiff appeared at “calendar call” on September 6, 2005 before Judge Dawson, he asked when the court was going “to rule on my motion to suppress all of the evidence (which) I filed 15 months ago.”  CC Tr. 5.
  When Schiff attempted to explain further the court interrupted, telling him, “Oh, come on.  . . . We’re not gonna go through all of that.”  Later when Schiff attempted to explain the relevance of a prospective witness’ anticipated testimony in response to the court’s inquiry, the court stated:

[I]f you think you’re gonna do this throughout the trial and confuse the jury, you better think again because I’m going to be very tough on what you do in here and the avenues that you pursue.  

CC Tr. pp. 9-10.  

During the testimony of the government’s first witness, the trial court signaled its impatience and its belief that the issue was validity of the income tax laws.  

THE COURT:
The law is very, very clear:  What he put out is crap.  It doesn’t stand up.  The Supreme Court has ruled for 91 years that the income tax laws are valid.  


Section 1 of the Code, the very first section in the book, says an income tax is imposed, et cetera, et cetera, on everybody that has income.

. . . .

THE COURT:

You’ve just  . . . done a bunch of mumbo jumbo in a very confusing  . . . -- area to laymen . . . and you have made a lot of money on it.  . . .

. . . .

You’re wasting . . . the Court’s time taking the people through this.  

Tr. 479-480, emphasis added.

The court’s use of the words “crap” and “mumbo jumbo” was inappropriate.  It also displayed early on the court’s hostility and its view that validity of the “income tax” laws was the issue.  The issue was whether Schiff and his co-defendants had “willfully” filed or assisted others in filing “false and fraudulent” tax returns.  

The court’s intemperate remarks regarding Schiff were repeated throughout the trial.  He accused Schiff of using “this trial as a forum to promote your business.”  Tr. 489.  “This is goobledygook.”  “I have looked at your cases.  They are garbage.”  “The stuff you’ve taken out of them and put together is garbage.”  Tr. 493.  “You’re not going to take up any more time with this garbage that has been rejected by . . . all of the courts of this country.”  “[T]his is legal garbage.”  Tr. 2531.  You have made “false statements of the law.”  Tr. 2600.  “You’re just taking phrases and putting them together to make your legal garbage.”  Tr. 2626.  “You’re theory is legal garbage.”  Tr. 2726.  “I know where you’re going and I’m tired of it.  You’re not going to put in false statements of the law.”  Tr. 2723.  “I’ve read all your pleadings.  Your theory is legal garbage.”  Tr. 2726.  You can’t bring in false law without me . . . telling the jury what the law is.”  Tr. 2727.  “[T]his is legal garbage you have in your hand.  Legal Garbage.”  Tr. 3475.  

When Schiff and his codefendants sought to introduce an opinion letter from a Nebraska lawyer written to one of the “0” taxpayers, the judge rejected it.  “I’m just not gonna admit it to evidence because it’s garbage.”  Again the explanation was that it would “usurp the court’s instructions of the law.”  Tr. 1002.  The court reasoned it was “inadmissible . . . on the grounds they don’t accurately state the law, misleading, confusing, prejudicial.”  Tr. 1184.  During the testimony of another witness the court made the gratuitous remark that Schiff’s book “is evidence . . . of tax evasion.”  Tr. 1379.  
Another issue was a letter each taxpayer had signed and sent to the IRS with his or her tax return.  It was clear that the language and reasoning as well as the form of the letter had come from one of Schiff’s books.  Yet when Schiff asked what the witness meant when she wrote it, the court accused him of “misleading” the jury.  Tr. 468.  Later, outside the presence of the jury, the court said it was “[a] deliberate attempt to confuse the jury as to authorship of this document.”  Tr. 487.  The author was clearly Schiff, but Ms. Mitchell had signed the letter and sent it to the IRS.  If there was any confusion, cross-examination by the government, not the court’s gratuitous remark, was the appropriate venue for addressing it.  

Schiff may not be entitled to a perfect trial, but he was entitled to a fair trial.  He did not receive it.  Therefore his conviction should be vacated.  

CONCLUSION TC “CONCLUSION” \f C \l “1” 
For the foregoing reasons, the Court should reverse Schiff’s conviction and remand for a new trial.  
STATEMENT CONCERNING ORAL ARGUMENT TC “STATEMENT CONCERNING ORAL ARGUMENT” \f C \l “1” 
Appellant requests oral argument.  Argument will permit counsel to address the complex legal and factual questions that this case presents and to respond to the Court’s questions.  
DATED:  February __, 2007
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Michael B. Nash
STATUTORY APPENDIX

STATUTES

A. 
26 U.S.C. § 7206(2)
B. 
26 U.S.C. § 7201
C. 
18 U.S.C. § 401

D. 
18 U.S.C. § 3553 TA \s "18 U.S.C. § 3553" (a)

E. 
Rule 42 TA \s "Rule 42 of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure" , Fed.R.Crim. Pro.

F. 
28 U.S.C. § 636

G. 
18 U.S.C. § 4241 TA \s "18 U.S.C. § 4241" 
H. 
18 U.S.C. § 4247 TA \s "18 U.S.C. § 4247" 
I.

28 U.S.C. § 455(a)
� 	The court ruled this letter inadmissible “on the grounds” it did not “accurately state the law, (and was) misleading, confusing, prejudicial.”  P. 1184.  


� 	According to Cohan’s affidavit, Dr. Barry had previously been retained by the United States Probation Department in U.S. v. Marsh 144 F.3d 1229, 1242 (9th Cir. 1998).  


� 	The Department of Justice attorneys in this prosecution referenced this fact in their motion for a second Faretta hearing. R. 144.  Ironically, the civil tax case sought to reduce to judgment the tax assessments against Schiff for the years 1979 through 1985, which was the subject of Count 17 in this case.  United States v. Schiff, case # 01 CV 895, R. 1 and 61.  


� 	This clearly is a reference to the District Court Judge Dawson before whom the trial was scheduled and to whom the Magistrate Judge had spoken during the noon recess.  One can only assume that Judge Dawson was in agreement regarding appointment of counsel who could not and would not be prepared.  


� 	The Supreme Court has accepted petitions for certiorari in Claiborne v. U.S., ____ U.S. _____, 127 S.Ct. 551 (2006) and Rita v. U.S., ______ U.S. _____, 127 S.Ct. 551 (2006).  


� 	There was an initial version of the PSR dated 12/22/05, a revised report dated 1/4/06, a second revision dated 1/18/06, a third revision dated 2/08/06 and then an addendum prepared after the 1/18/06 second revision but before the third revision.  


� 	In some cases the W-2 had been attached to the previously filed return.  





� 	CC Tr. refers to the Calendar Call transcript of Sept. 6, 2005.  






